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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and the   ) 
PENNSYLVANIA DEPARTMENT OF  ) 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION  ) 
       ) 
 Plaintiffs,      ) 
       ) Civil Action No.  
 v.      ) 
       ) 
LIBERTAS COPPER, LLC, d/b/a    ) 
HUSSEY COPPER,     ) 
       )  
 Defendant.     ) 
__________________________________________) 
 

COMPLAINT 

The United States of America (“United States”), by authority of the Attorney General of 

the United States and on behalf of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), and the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Department of Environmental Protection (“PADEP” or the 

“Department”), (collectively, “Plaintiffs”) file this Complaint and allege as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a civil action brought pursuant to Sections 309(b) and (d) of the Federal 

Water Pollution Control Act (“Clean Water Act” or “CWA”), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b) and (d), and 

Sections 601 and 605 of the Pennsylvania Clean Streams Law (“PCSL”), 35 Pa. Cons. Stat. §§ 

691.601 and 691.605. Defendant Libertas Copper, LLC, d/b/a Hussey Copper (“Libertas 

Copper” or “Defendant”) has violated the CWA and the PCSL by discharging pollutants to the 

Ohio River without a permit, in violation of Section 301(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), 

and Sections 301 and 307 of the PCSL, 35 Pa. Cons. Stat. §§ 691.301 and 691.307, and by 

violating the conditions and limitations of National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
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(“NPDES”) permit PA0000566 issued to Defendant by PADEP pursuant to Section 402(b) of the 

CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b), and Section 307 of the PCSL, 35 Pa. Cons. Stat.. § 691.307. 

2. Plaintiffs seek permanent injunctive relief and the assessment of civil penalties 

against Defendant to address its illegal discharges of pollutants, as authorized by Sections 309(b) 

and (d) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b) and (d), and Sections 601 and 605 of the PCSL, 35 Pa. 

Cons. Stat. §§ 691.601 and 691.605. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action under Section 

309(b) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), and under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, 1355, 

and 1367. 

4. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the PADEP state law claims alleged 

herein pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) because the state claims are so related to the federal 

claims as to form part of the same case or controversy.  

5. Venue is proper in the Western District of Pennsylvania pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 

1391(b) and (c) and 1395(a), as well as Section 309(b) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. 

§ 1319(b), because it is the judicial district in which Defendant is doing business and in which 

the violations alleged in the Complaint occurred. 

6. As signatory of this Complaint, PADEP has actual notice of commencement of 

this action as required by Section 309(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b). 

DEFENDANT 

7. Libertas Copper is a Delaware Limited Liability Company that owns and operates 

a copper smelting facility (“Facility”) with its principal place of business at 100 Washington 

Street, Leetsdale, Pennsylvania 15056. 
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STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND 

Clean Water Act 

8. Section 301(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), prohibits the “discharge of any 

pollutant by any person,” to waters of the United States, except, inter alia, in compliance with an 

NPDES permit issued by EPA or an authorized state pursuant to Section 402 of the CWA, 33 

U.S.C. § 1342.  

9. Section 502(12) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12), defines “discharge of a 

pollutant” to include “any addition of any pollutant to navigable waters from any point source.” 

10. Section 502(6) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(6), defines “pollutant” to include, 

inter alia, chemical and industrial waste. 

11. Section 502(7) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7), defines “navigable waters” to 

mean “the waters of the United States, including the territorial seas.” 

12. “Waters of the United States” has been defined to include, inter alia, “[a]ll waters 

which are currently used, were used in the past, or may be susceptible to use in interstate or 

foreign commerce . . . .” See, e.g., 40 C.F.R. § 122.2 (1993); 40 C.F.R. § 120.2 (2020). 

13. Section 502(14) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(14), defines “point source” as 

“any discernible, confined and discrete conveyance, including but not limited to any pipe, ditch, 

channel, tunnel, [or] conduit . . . from which pollutants are or may be discharged.” 

14. Section 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, provides that the permit-issuing 

authority may issue an NPDES permit that authorizes the discharge of any pollutant to waters of 

the United States, upon the condition that such discharge will meet all applicable requirements of 

the CWA and such other conditions as the permitting authority determines necessary to carry out 

the provisions of the CWA. 
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15. At all relevant times, PADEP has been authorized by EPA pursuant to Section 

402(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b), to administer an NPDES permit program for regulating 

the discharges of pollutants to navigable waters within the jurisdiction of the Commonwealth.  

16. Section 402(a)(2) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(a)(2), directs the Administrator 

to prescribe conditions and limitations, including effluent limitations, for NPDES permits to 

assure compliance with the requirements of the CWA. 33 U.S.C. § 1342(a)(2); see also 33 

U.S.C. § 1311. Effluent limitations, as defined in Section 502(11) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 

1362(11), are restrictions on quantity, rate, and concentration of chemical, physical, biological, 

and other constituents that are discharged from point sources. Pursuant to Section 402(a)(2), the 

regulatory authority may prescribe such conditions and limitations. 

17. Section 301(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(b), directs the Administrator to set 

effluent limitations for categories and classes of point sources based on the best practicable 

control technology or the best available technology economically achievable for such category or 

class. In 1983, EPA set effluent limitations guidelines (“ELGs”) for discharges from copper-

forming point sources. 48 Fed. Reg. 36,942 (Aug. 15, 1983). EPA amended the regulation in 

1986. See 40 C.F.R. Part 468; 51 Fed. Reg. 7,568 (Mar. 5, 1986). In 1985, EPA set ELGs for the 

metal molding and casting industry. See 40 C.F.R. Part 464; 50 Fed. Reg. 45,212 (Oct. 30, 1985). 

The ELGs prescribe “maximum for any 1 day” and “maximum for monthly average” numeric 

effluent limitations for copper, chromium, nickel, oil and grease, lead, total suspended solids 

(“TSS”), pH, and zinc. Discharges with a pH above or below the range set forth in the applicable 

ELGs (within the range of 7.5 to 10.0 at all times) are violations of the daily maximum or daily 

minimum limitations in Defendant’s NPDES permit. Pursuant to Section 301(b), the regulatory 

authority may set such effluent limitations. 
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18. Section 309(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), authorizes civil actions for 

appropriate relief, including a permanent or temporary injunction, against any person who 

violates Section 301 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311, or violates any permit condition or 

limitation in a permit issued pursuant to Section 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342. 

19. Section 309(d) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), provides that any person who 

violates any permit condition or limitation in a permit issued pursuant to Section 402 of the 

CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, shall be subject to a civil penalty payable to the United States of up to 

$25,000 per day for each violation. 

20. Pursuant to the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, 

28 U.S.C. § 2461 note (as amended by the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996, 31 U.S.C. 

§ 3701 note); the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act Improvements Act of 2015, 

28 U.S.C. § 2461 note; and 40 C.F.R. § 19.4 (Feb. 6, 2019), EPA may seek civil penalties of up 

to $37,500 per day for each violation that occurred between January 12, 2009, and November 2, 

2015, and up to $54,833 per day for each violation that occurred after November 2, 2015. 

21. The U.S. Attorney General and the Department of Justice have authority to bring 

this action on behalf of EPA pursuant to Section 506 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1366.  

Pennsylvania Clean Streams Law and Regulations 

22. Sections 301 and 307 of the PCSL, 35 Pa. Cons. Stat. §§ 691.301 and 691.307, 

prohibit the discharge by any person of any industrial wastes into waters of the Commonwealth 

of Pennsylvania, except, inter alia, in compliance with a permit issued by PADEP pursuant to 

Section 307 of the PCSL, 35 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 691.307, and PADEP’s implementing regulations 

adopted by the Pennsylvania Environmental Quality Board (“EQB”). See 25 Pa. Code Chapters 

91, 92a, 93, 95, and 96. 
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